FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/10/2018 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington No. 10/10/2018 2:42 PM

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

No. 50242-9-II

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A., AS TRUSTEE FOR OPTION ONE MORTGAGE LOAN TRUST 2006-1, ASSET-BACKED CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2006-1, its successors in interest and/or assigns,

Respondent,

v.

BARRY M. GARDNER AKA BARRY M. GARDNER SR., MARY BETH GARDNER, et al.,

Appellant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

RICHMOND & RICHMOND, LTD.
RONALD D. RICHMOND WSBA 42438
KAREN RICHMOND WSBA 31618
1521 SE Piperberry Way # 135
Port Orchard WA 98366

INTRODUCTION

This is a case of first impression regarding the Foreclosure Fairness Act (FFA). The FFA is designed to ensure a good faith mediation effort from foreclosing beneficiaries. But here, rather than complying with the FFA, the beneficiary abandoned the nonjudicial foreclosure action and began a judicial foreclosure. This was an end run around the statute.

Nonetheless, the appellate court held that no affirmative defense is available to a consumer when a beneficiary switches to a judicial foreclosure after failing to mediate in good faith and that a Consumer Protection Act (CPA) claim failed for lack of showing adequate causation. Wells Fargo Bank, N. A. v. Gardner, Washington State Court of Appeals, 50242-9-II (September 11, 2018) (Bjorgen, J.). In denying the consumers an affirmative defense under the FFA, the court improperly applied the last antecedent rule to contradict the legislative intent acknowledged in the court's decision. A strained and inaccurate application of a technical construction rule should not leave consumers without protection against bad faith. It also contradicts appellate precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2).

On the CPA, the appellate court failed to address whether denial of a good faith foreclosure opportunity was, in itself, an injury under the CPA. The court also applied the CPA causation requirements in a logically

inconsistent manner compared to its injury findings. Its decision was also contrary to existing appellate precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2).

Together, the court's failure to imply an affirmative defense and its improper causation analysis undermine the FFA's good faith protections.

This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the FFA prohibit the use of the lack of good faith as an affirmative defense in a judicial foreclosure action brought when no agreement was reached due to the lack of good faith bargaining?
- 2. Is it appropriate for the Court to create an affirmative defense under the FFA when the beneficiary initiates a judicial foreclosure action rather than comply with the good faith requirements of the statute?
- 3. Is the loss of opportunity for a good faith mediation as granted by the statute an actionable "injury" under the CPA?
- 4. When consumers would not have suffered the loss of their home in a judicial foreclosure "but for" the beneficiary's failure to mediate in good faith, has causation been established sufficient for the CPA?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Gardners fell victim to the Great Recession in 2009.

Like many other homeowners, the Gardners were severely affected financially by the economic downturn of 2007-2008 and fell behind on their mortgage payments in 2009. The beneficiary (herein for simplicity referred to as "Wells Fargo," including predecessors in interest and agents) commenced a nonjudicial foreclosure action. This much is undisputed.

B. The beneficiary on their mortgage failed to mediate in good faith.

In 2011, the Gardners requested a mediation under the newly created foreclosure mediation program, now codified at RCW 61.24.163. Significant negotiations occurred prior to the final negotiation, but none led to a resolution. *CP 405-407 summarizing CP 509-528, 532-541*.

At the formal mediation, the mediator found that Wells Fargo's representatives had failed to mediate in good faith as they had not submitted documents in a timely manner. *CP 462-464*. The mediator also noted that Wells Fargo's representatives had come to the mediation unprepared to negotiate figures, unaware of the nature of the appraisal and documents at hand, and unable to negotiate specific terms. She therefore certified that the Wells Fargo had failed to negotiate in good faith. *CP 462-466*.

C. The lender switched to a judicial foreclosure, evading the mediator's finding that it acted in bad faith.

The Gardners attempted to recontact Wells Fargo on several occasions after this. Rather than engaging in any further good faith mediation session, Wells Fargo initiated a judicial foreclosure action against the Gardners, commencing this action September 4, 2014. *CP 1-35*.

In response, the Gardners asserted the violation of the FFA as an affirmative defense and counterclaimed for damages under the Consumer Protection Act. *CP* 39-40.

III. REASONS TO GRANT REVIEW

A. History of the Foreclosure Fairness Act.

The Foreclosure Fairness Act was enacted by the Washington state legislature in 2011 in response to rising rates of home foreclosures. Laws of 2011, ch. 58, § 1 The legislature found that Washington law lacked a means "for homeowners to readily access a neutral third party to assist them in a fair and timely way." *Id*.

The legislature specifically found that the following elements of a mediation were essential:

For mediation to be effective, the parties should attend the mediation (in person, telephonically, through an agent, or otherwise), provide the necessary documentation in a timely manner, willingly share information, actively present,

discuss, and explore options to avoid foreclosure, negotiate willingly and cooperatively, maintain a professional and cooperative demeanor, cooperate with the mediator, and keep any agreements made in mediation. *Id*.

B. The appellate decision applies the last antecedent rule to defeat legislative intent, contrary to Supreme Court precedent. (RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2))

The availability or lack of an affirmative defense in this case hinges on the court's interpretation of the following clauses of the FFA:

- (14)(a) The mediator's certification that the beneficiary failed to act in good faith in mediation constitutes a defense to the nonjudicial foreclosure action that was the basis for initiating the mediation. In any action to enjoin the foreclosure, the beneficiary is entitled to rebut the allegation that it failed to act in good faith.
- (b) The mediator's certification that the beneficiary failed to act in good faith during mediation does not constitute a defense to a judicial foreclosure or a future nonjudicial foreclosure action if a modification of the loan is agreed upon and the borrower subsequently defaults.

RCW 61.24.163. Wells Fargo argues that 14(a) refers only to the nonjudicial foreclosure action that is the basis for initiating mediation; that 14(b) prohibits ever raising failure to act in good faith in a judicial foreclosure; and that it is therefore permissible for it to simply abandon the nonjudicial foreclosure and file a judicial foreclosure based on the same breach, evading any consequences for its failure to mediate in good faith.

The Court of Appeals' opinion acknowledged the strength of the Gardner's argument, agreeing that to allow Wells Fargo's argument

undermines the legislature's intent to ensure that parties receive a good faith mediation opportunity: "Allowing a lender to escape the principal consequences of bad faith conduct in mediation in this way could well erode both the integrity and efficacy of mediation." Op. at 10.

Nevertheless, the court held that the statute's plain language required it to find that the clause "if a modification of the loan is agreed upon and the borrower subsequently defaults," modified only the words "a future nonjudicial foreclosure action," rather than the phrase "to a judicial foreclosure or a future nonjudicial foreclosure action." It reached this conclusion using the "last antecedent" canon of construction. *Id.* At 9.

The court's ruling essentially comes down to a finding that the lack of a comma after "action" controls the statute's meaning. This is incorrect under existing precedent:

While "the meaning of a statute will typically heed the commands of its punctuation ... a purported plain-meaning analysis based only on punctuation is necessarily incomplete and runs the risk of distorting a statute's true meaning."

State Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Slaugh, 177 Wn. App. 439, 449, 312 P.3d 676, 681 (2013) (quoting U.S. Nat'l Bank of Or. v. Indep. Ins. Agents of Am., Inc., 508 U.S. 439, 454, 113 S.Ct. 2173, 124 L.Ed.2d 402 (1993)).

Under this Court's precedent, the last antecedent rule is not the last word in statutory interpretation:

We do not apply the [last antecedent] rule if other factors, such as context and language in related statutes, indicate contrary legislative intent or if applying the rule would result in an absurd or nonsensical interpretation.

State v. Bunker, 169 Wn.2d 571, 578, 238 P.3d 487, 491 (2010).

In the present case, the appellate court noted that the last antecedent rule resulted in a reading that "eroded the integrity and efficacy" of the legislature's remedy. This conflicts with controlling appellate decisions.

But even the application of the last antecedent rule does not result in the reading that the court applied. A case with a very similar grammatical structure in question illustrates why the court in this case applied the last antecedent rule incorrectly: *In re Smith*, 139 Wn.2d 199, 986 P.2d 131 (1999). In *Smith*, the statutory language in conflict was as follows (emphasis added):

In the case of an offender convicted of a serious violent offense or a sex offense that is a class A felony committed on or after July 1, 1990, the aggregate earned early release time may not exceed fifteen percent of the sentence.

The *Smith* court was considering whether the phrase "that is a class A felony" applied only to sex offenses or to serious violent offenses as well.

Structurally this question is identical to the statutory interpretation in question here:

The mediator's certification that the beneficiary failed to act in good faith during mediation does not constitute a defense to a judicial foreclosure or a future nonjudicial foreclosure action if a modification of the loan is agreed upon and the borrower subsequently defaults.

RCW 61.24.163 (14)(b)

In both statutes, there is a modifying clause following a series of two terms, objects of the same preposition, joined by an "or." The question is whether the modifying clause applies only to the last term or to both terms.

The *Smith* court held that applying the last antecedent rule to the modifier ("that is a class A felony") led to an absurd result because it would mean that sex offenses were time limited, but the violent offenses were not. On the contrary, the court held that the "last antecedent" was not the term "a sex offense," but the entire phrase, "of a serious violent offense or a sex offense": "This is the only interpretation that leaves the meaning of the whole sentence unimpaired while at the same time preserving the primary intent of the section." *Smith* at 205.

The statutory language in question here is grammatically identical: "to a judicial foreclosure action or a future nonjudicial foreclosure action" is a single prepositional phrase. In light of the purposes of the FFA to protect consumers from bad faith mediation tactics, the most reasonable reading is that the entire phrase is the last antecedent, which is modified

by the limitation that it applies only after a modification is agreed upon and a subsequent default.

Such an interpretation is more grammatically reasonable than the appellate court's interpretation, complies with the last antecedent rule, and satisfies the legislative intent as acknowledged by the lower court. It is the appropriate interpretation to adopt under the rules of statutory construction as applied by this court. "Where two interpretations of statutory language are equally reasonable, our canons of construction direct us to adopt 'the interpretation which better advances the overall legislative purpose." Wright v. Lyft, Inc., 189 Wn.2d 718, 729, 406 P.3d 1149, 1154 (2017) (quoting Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Dep't of Ecology, 86 Wn.2d 310, 321, 545 P.2d 5 (1976)). This Court should grant review to address the conflicts with existing appellate precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2).

C. The Court of Appeals failed to create an affirmative defense necessary to fulfill the legislature's intent in a manner substantially affecting the public's ability to gain protection under the FFA. (RAP 13.4(b)(4))

It is uncontested that the FFA does not explicitly create an affirmative defense where, as here, the beneficiary abandons the nonjudicial foreclosure and brings a judicial foreclosure without completing negotiations, evading the mediator's bad faith finding.

Because the appellate decision adopted an improper interpretation of

RCW 61.24.163(14)(b), banning the use of an affirmative defense in any judicial foreclosure, it failed to reach the Gardner's arguments on the appropriateness of creating an affirmative defense in this situation. This Court should grant review to address this significant issue. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Washington law has three elements that should be taken into consideration when the court considers permitting implying a remedy where the statute has not explicitly created one:

- 1. whether the individual is within the class for whose 'especial' benefit the statute was enacted;
- 2. whether legislative intent, explicitly or implicitly, supports creating or denying a remedy; and
- 3. whether implying a remedy is consistent with the underlying purpose of the legislation.

Frias v. Asset Foreclosure Services, Inc., 181 Wn.2d 412, 422 (2014).

First, as homeowners threatened with foreclosure, the Gardners are within the class protected by RCW 61.24.163.

Second, RCW 61.24.163(14)(a) explicitly authorizes an affirmative defense if the beneficiary tries to proceed with the non-judicial foreclosure action after acting in bad faith. RCW 61.24.163(14)(b) prohibits raising the defense only if a modification of the loan is agreed upon and the borrower defaults.

Left unaddressed, and possibly uncontemplated by the legislature, was the situation in which the beneficiary would, instead of correcting its bad faith certification and moving forward with the nonjudicial foreclosure, simply abandon the process in favor of judicial foreclosure, evading the bad faith finding. It is clear from 14(a), however, that the legislature intended that good faith mediation be protected and that the beneficiary must not be allowed to move forward without completing it.

Allowing an affirmative defense in this situation permits homeowners to take advantage of the protection the legislature intended to grant them. Thus, the second and third *Frias* factors are also satisfied.

By failing to provide a remedy for the Gardners when Wells Fargo evaded good faith mediation, the appellate court left consumers without out recourse to ensure good faith mediations under the FFA. This Court should grant review to address this significant statutory question. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

D. The Court of Appeals failed to rule on whether the loss of a good faith mediation is an actionable injury, substantially impacting the ability of Washington citizens to obtain mediations under the FFA (RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2)

A CPA claim must satisfy five elements: unfair or deceptive act, occurrence in trade or commerce, public interest impact, causation, and injury. *Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co.*, 105

Wn.2d 778, 780, 719 P.2d 531 (1986). The Court of Appeals held that the Gardners satisfied four out of five CPA elements. The opinion raised, but failed to resolve, one of the possible bases for finding CPA injury: "The Gardners maintain that the loss of the opportunity to mediate in good faith is a recoverable injury under the CPA." Opinion at 13. This Court should grant review where, as here, the appellate court's decision conflicts with – or evades – existing precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2).

Monetary damages are not required to establish an "injury" under the CPA:

"[N]o monetary damages need be proven, and . . . nonquantifiable injuries, such as loss of goodwill would suffice for this element of the *Hangman Ridge* test." The fact that the Act allows for injunctive relief bolsters the conclusion that injury without specific monetary damages will suffice.

Mason v. Mortg. Am., Inc., 114 Wn.2d 842, 854, 792 P.2d 142, 148 (1990) (quoting Nordstrom, Inc. v. Tampourlos, 107 Wn.2d 735, 740, 733 P.2d 208 (1987)).

The Gardners suffered a nonquantifiable injury similar to the loss of goodwill that constituted the injury in *Nordstrom*. The legislature granted the Gardners the right to a good faith mediation under the FFA. It is incontestable that a good faith mediation never occurred here. Rather,

Wells Fargo evaded the statutory requirement. The Gardners thus suffered injury under the CPA.

Of course, the outcome of any mediation is inherently uncertain. Whether the parties would reach resolution cannot be determined in advance. Therefore, monetary damages will always be difficult for consumers to establish in claims brought under the FFA. By failing to determine whether the denial of a right granted by the legislature is an "injury," the appellate court made it far more difficult for consumers to gain the protections the legislature intended to grant them. This Court should grant review to bring an injury under the FFA squarely within the ambit of injury under the CPA, consistent with its precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

E. The Court of Appeals failed to find causation when the injury was causally connected to the CPA violation, defining causation in a way that substantially threatens the rights of Washington citizens. (RAP 13.4(b)(4))

As explained above, the only reason the Court of Appeals found the Gardners' claim insufficient under the CPA was a lack of causation. If, as also discussed above, the Court had found the loss of the good faith mediation an actionable injury, then causation would be clear. Wells Fargo failed to mediate in good faith; the Gardners attempted to renew

negotiations and Wells Fargo never complied. Wells Fargo thus inflicted an injury on the Gardners for purposes of the CPA.

But in any event, the injury recognized by the appellate court — the loss of the Gardners' home due to a judicial foreclosure — also has the necessary causal connection to Wells Fargo's behavior. It is uncontested that the Gardners never received a good faith mediation. Had they received it, two things could have happened: it could have succeeded, and they would have kept their house; or it could have failed, and the bank would have proceeded with the original nonjudicial foreclosure action with no further recourse available to the Gardners. Either way, their loss of their home due to a *judicial* foreclosure action would not have occurred "but for" the bank's failure to mediate in good faith.

The fact that it is possible that the mediation would have failed and the Gardners might then have lost their home to a *nonjudicial* foreclosure does not negate the fact that the judicial foreclosure would not have occurred without the bad faith actions of Wells Fargo. They may have lost their house, but it would have occurred at a different time and manner; they would have known their rights and options and not incurred the costs of defending against a judicial foreclosure. They would not have suffered the time and expense of bad faith mediation, either.

By insisting, essentially, that the Gardners prove that they would not have lost their home in any manner but for Wells Fargo's actions, the appellate court raised the standard of causation beyond what the CPA requires, turning the standard into one that will be nearly impossible for consumers to meet. This Court should grant review to address this concerning misinterpretation of the CPA. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

F. The Court should also grant review on remaining issues.

Although the remaining issues do not independently require review here, if the Court grants review, then the issues pertaining to the recoverability of attorneys' fees in defending the judicial foreclosure act should be addressed.

IV. CONCLUSION

As stated above, the appellate court's decision in this case, by both failing to allow an affirmative defense and imposing an inappropriate and impossible standard of causation under the CPA, leaves consumers without the protection of a good faith mediation as granted by the legislature under the FFA. For these reasons, this Court should grant review.