FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/28/2019 9:48 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 96407-6 Court of Appeals No. 50242-9-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A., AS TRUSTEE FOR OPTION ONE MORTGAGE LOAN TRUST 2006-1, ASSET-BACKED CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2006-1, its successors in interest and/or assigns,

Plaintiff/Respondent

v.

BARRY M. GARDNER AKA BARRY M. GARDNER SR., MARY BETH GARDNER, et al.,

Defendants/Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Statutes

RCW 4.84.330	
RCW 9.94A.150(1)	
RCW 19.86	
RCW 61.24 et seq	
RCW 61.24.005	
RCW 61.24.050	
RCW 61.24.100	
RCW 61.24.160(3) (2012)	
RCW 61.24.163 (2012)	
RCW 61.25.163(14)(b)	

Rules

CR 12(f)	
RAP 13.4(b)	
RAP 18.1(a)	

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

The Petition for Review before this Court arises out of a judicial foreclosure action brought by Wells Fargo Bank as Trustee (the "Trust")¹ after borrowers Barry and Mary Beth Gardner (the "Gardners") defaulted on a note and deed of trust held by the Trust. It is undisputed that the Gardners defaulted in 2009, and that the Trust satisfied all the elements of a foreclosure action. The only dispute is whether the Gardners can raise a viable affirmative defense and CPA counterclaim based on a mediator's finding during mediation under the Foreclosure Fairness Act, RCW 61.24.163 ("FFA"), that the Trust's prior servicer did not mediate in good faith because it failed to timely provide documents during the mediation. The Gardners contend that foreclosure can be precluded indefinitely as a result of this finding, in spite of the fact that the Trust's former and current loan servicer continued to negotiate and exchange offers with the Gardners for over a year after the mediation, the Gardners were never able to make a reasonable offer and instead made only successive inferior offers, and the Trust did not initiate judicial foreclosure until two years after the mediation.

The Washington Court of Appeals, Second Division, correctly concluded that the mediation finding could not be raised as an affirmative

¹ Respondent's complete name is Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Trustee for Option One Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-1, Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2006-1, its successors and/or assigns.

defense to a judicial foreclosure. The clear language of the mediation statute supports this interpretation, as well as the structure of the Deed of Trust Act and legislative history. The Court further correctly found that the Gardners' CPA counterclaim was unavailing, as they could show no injury caused by the alleged violation. The Gardners raise no error or issues warranting this Court's review, and their Petition should be denied.

II. <u>COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES</u>

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that a mediator's certification that a party failed to act in good faith during mediation under RCW 61.24.163 cannot serve as a defense to a judicial foreclosure?

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming grant of summary judgment on the Gardners' CPA counterclaim where there was no evidence of injury or causation?

3. Is there any basis, as required under the Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure ("RAP"), Rule 13.4(b), for this Court to accept discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion affirming grant of summary judgment in this routine foreclosure case?

4. Is the Trust entitled to an award of attorney's fees and costs incurred in responding to the Gardners' Petition for Review?

2

III. <u>COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

A. The Gardners Take Out a Loan to Purchase Property

In 2005, the Gardners signed a promissory note ("Note") and Deed of Trust encumbering property located in Kitsap County, Washington (the "Property"), for the purpose of obtaining a residential mortgage loan for \$900,000 to refinance the Property. (CP 420-426; CP 411.) It is undisputed that the Trust is the current holder of the Note. (CP 418, 424.)

B. The Gardners Default and Seek a Discounted Payoff

The Gardners admit they defaulted on the Loan in 2009 and have not made any mortgage or tax payments on the Property since then. (CP 481-482, 489). As a result, the Trust's prior loan servicer commenced a non-judicial foreclosure and the Gardners requested a referral to foreclosure mediation under the Foreclosure Fairness Act, RCW 61.24.163 ("FFA"), which is a section of the Deed of Trust Act, RCW 61.24 et seq. ("DTA"). (Doc. 66, Ex. E).

In January 2010, the Gardners began consulting with Steve McLean, a "Reverse Mortgage Advisor," to discuss the possibility of acquiring a reverse mortgage on their home, which the Gardners hoped would allow them to reach a settlement with the Trust to pay off the Loan. Thereafter, the parties participated in a first mediation on October 25, 2011, which was unsuccessful. (CP 464.) Then, on April 19, 2012, the Gardners offered the Trust a discounted payoff of \$377,727 to extinguish the Trust's lien, based on their belief that they could obtain a reverse mortgage of \$407,727 and provide the remaining amount to the Trust after subtracting \$30,000 for legal fees and repairs. (CP 538-39.) The Trust's servicer responded the next day, advising that the Property had been appraised at \$470,000 and that the Trust would allow a discounted payoff of \$423,000, and possibly even go as low as \$413,000, but would not absorb the cost of the Gardners' legal fees and repairs. (CP 536.) On May 31, 2012, the Gardners offered an even lower offer of \$375,000. (CP 299).

The parties engaged in a second mediation on September 20, 2012. (CP 464). It is undisputed that no reverse mortgage was ever approved by McLean (CP 516-18); accordingly, the Gardners were not actually able to offer funds at the mediation. Nonetheless, after the September 20, 2012 mediation, the mediator issued a report which checked a box that the beneficiary failed to mediate in good faith because of a "[1]ack of timely provision of documents." (CP 463).

The parties continued to negotiate. On November 13, 2012, the Gardners made an offer of \$379,321. (CP 552, 545). The Trust's servicer rejected the offer as being too low and requested the Gardners rework the offer. (CP 551). The Gardners never provided another offer above \$379,321. (CP 300). In March 2013, servicing of the Loan transferred to Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC. On April 10, 2013, Ocwen sent a notice of default to the Gardners. In response, the Gardners offered \$300,000 on

4

October 23, 2013 to resolve the lien, an offer down almost eighty thousand dollars from the offer provided almost a year earlier. (CP 300).

C. The Trust Brings a Judicial Foreclosure Action

In September 2014, the Trust filed the judicial foreclosure lawsuit. (Doc. 2). The Gardners responded with an Amended Answer, asserting that the Loan servicer's failure to mediate in good faith at the September 2012 mediation was an affirmative defense to judicial foreclosure under former RCW 61.24.163(14) and a violation of the CPA. (Doc. 18.)

On Wells Fargo's motion, the Trial Court struck the defense under CR 12(f), but did not strike the counterclaim. The Court later granted summary judgment as to the Gardners' counterclaim by Court Order on March 23, 2017. (CP 644-46).

D. The Gardners Appeal and Petition for Review

The Gardners filed a Notice of Appeal, disputing the Trial Court's interpretation of RCW 61.24.163(14)(b) (2012). The Court of Appeals of Washington, Division 2, affirmed the Trial Court. *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. for Option One Mortg. Loan Tr. 2006-1, Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2006-1 v. Gardner*, No. 50242-9-II, 2018 WL 4334227 (Wash. Ct. App. Sept. 11, 2018). The Court carefully considered the disputed statute and relied on both the structure of the statute and the last antecedent rule to determine that the statute did not allow the use of the mediation certificate as a defense to a judicial foreclosure. *Id.* at *5.

As to the Gardners' counterclaim, the Court of Appeals held that the Gardners had failed to prove injury and causation under the CPA, a required element of such a claim. *Id.* at *7. Although the Gardners asserted that the lost opportunity cost them attorney fees, the Court of Appeals held that they presented no evidence or argument from which the Court could determine if they lost fees that were recoverable as damages in a CPA claim, as set forth in the Washington Supreme Court's *en banc* decision, *Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 166 Wn.2d 27, 57 (2009). The only potential injury they established was the loss of their home to foreclosure; however, they failed to establish actual causation – another required element – because they failed to show how the timely provision of documents would have altered the situation and avoided injury. *Gardner*, 2018 WL 4334227, at *8.

The Gardners now bring this Petition for Review.

IV. <u>REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED</u>

This Court should deny the Gardners' Petition for Review because the Gardners' Petition fails to show any actual error in the Court of Appeals' ruling and does not satisfy the Court's standards for review.

A. The Gardners' Petition for Review is Unsupported by Authority and Raises No Legitimate Legal Issue

The Gardners' Petition fails to identify any error in the Court of Appeals' interpretation of the law or review of evidence.

1. <u>RCW 61.24.163(14)'s text precludes the Gardners'</u> <u>affirmative defense</u>

The Gardners argue that the Court of Appeals erred in applying the last antecedent rule in its interpretation of RCW 61.24.163(14) (2012). This decision was in accord with the one other case discussing the issue, *Thurman v. Wells Fargo Home Mortg. Co.*, No. 12-1471, 2013 WL 3977622, at *1 (W.D. Wash. Aug. 2, 2013) (quoting RCW 61.24.163(14)). Further, the Court's interpretation is supported by the rules of statutory construction, the context of the statute as a whole, legislative intent, and the recognized difference between nonjudicial and judicial foreclosures.

First, the Court of Appeals properly utilized the last antecedent rule to understand the legislature's intent in drafting the statute. The rule is a grammar rule "which states that qualifying or modifying words and phrases refer to the last antecedent." *State v. Bunker*, 169 Wn. 2d 571, 578, 238 P.3d 487 (2010). "Related to this rule is the corollary principle that the presence of a comma before the qualifying phrase is evidence the qualifier is intended to apply to all antecedents instead of only the immediately preceding one." *Id.* (internal citations omitted). The two rules are not applied if the whole of the statute indicates a contrary legislative intent, or if applying the rule "would result in an absurd or nonsensical interpretation" or render parts of the statute superfluous. *Id.*

Here, the statute provided:

(a) The mediator's certification that the beneficiary failed to act in good faith in mediation constitutes a defense to the nonjudicial foreclosure action that was the basis for initiating the mediation....

(b) The mediator's certification that the beneficiary failed to act in good faith during mediation does not constitute a defense to a judicial foreclosure or a future nonjudicial foreclosure action if a modification of the loan is agreed upon and the borrower subsequently defaults.

RCW 61.24.163(14) (2012). Subsection (b) does not include a comma prior to introducing the qualification "if a modification of the loan is agreed upon and the borrower subsequently defaults." *Id.* Accordingly, under the last antecedent rule, the qualification applies only to nonjudicial foreclosures (and not judicial foreclosures), if this makes sense with the structure of the statute and legislative history. The rule was utilized without error exactly as this Court utilized it in an *en banc* decision, *City of Spokane v. Cty. Of Spokane*, 158 Wn. 2d 661, 673-74, 146 P.3d 893 (2006), wherein the Court found that the qualification at the end of the sentence referred to the last antecedent listed in the sentence.

Here, the last antecedent rule renders an interpretation that is consistent with the entire DTA and the legislative intent of creating additional protection to borrowers facing non-judicial foreclosure. First, as noted by the Washington Court of Appeals, subsection (a) of the statute expressly states that the mediator's certification that the beneficiary failed to act in good faith is a defense to "the nonjudicial foreclosure action that was the basis for initiating the mediation." RCW 61.24.163(14)(a) (2012). "If the legislature had intended to extend the affirmative defense to both judicial and nonjudicial foreclosures, it could have clearly expressed that intent by including both terms in subsection (a)." *Gardner*, 2018 WL 4334227, at *5. The Gardners never respond to this point.

The Gardners argue that legislative intent compels this Court to ignore the last antecedent rule because the FFA was enacted due to the legislature's recognition that homeowners need access to a neutral third party to assist in foreclosure mediation, (Petition at 4), suggesting the legislature intended the mediation requirement to apply prior to any type of foreclosure. To the contrary, the official finding and declaration by the legislature, quoted only in-part by the Gardners (Petition at 4), states: "Washington's nonjudicial foreclosure process does not have a mechanism for homeowners to readily access a neutral third party to assist them in a fair and timely way." Official Note, subsection (c), RCW 61.24.005 (emphasis added). The statute was intended to create a mediation process for *non*-judicial foreclosures only, as is clear from the fact that the mediation requirement was added to the DTA, which is part of a comprehensive statutory scheme enacted to provide an alternative to judicial foreclosure. Albice v. Premier Mortg. Servs. Of Washington, Inc., 174 Wn. 2d 560, 567, 276 P.3d 1277 (2012) ("The procedural requirements for conducting a trustee sale are extensively spelled out in [the DTA]"). Like other provisions of the DTA, the mediation requirement exclusively applies to the non-judicial foreclosure process. *See* RCW 61.24.160(3) (2012) (noting housing counselor may refer a borrower to mediation under RCW 61.24.163 after the borrower has obtained the notice of default required prior to nonjudicial foreclosure); RCW 61.24.163(1) (2012) (same); RCW 61.24.163(14)(a) (2012) (noting mediator's finding that beneficiary failed to act in good faith in mediation "constitutes a defense *to the* nonjudicial foreclosure action that was the basis for initiating the mediation") (emphasis added). Interpreting RCW 61.24.163(14)(b) as providing an affirmative defense only for non-judicial foreclosures is wholly consistent with the structure and intent of the DTA, which provides additional protections for borrowers facing non-judicial foreclosures.

It is far from surprising that the mediation requirement was not intended to attach to a future judicial proceeding, for the difference between judicial and non-judicial foreclosures is explained by a long history of precedent from Washington Courts. The DTA was drafted to create an efficient and inexpensive foreclosure system that promoted the stability of land titles and provided adequate protection from wrongful foreclosure. *Albice*, 174 Wn. 2d at 567. In contrast with judicial foreclosures, the DTA "provides a comparatively inexpensive mechanism for lenders to foreclose." *United States v. Vallejo*, 660 F. Supp. 535, 538

10

(W.D. Wash. 1987). Accordingly, "[t]here are substantial differences in the respective rights of lenders and borrowers under each [process]." *Washington Fed. v. Harvey*, 182 Wn. 2d 335, 337, 340 P.3d 846 (2015) (internal citations omitted). The non-judicial process eliminates rights that a borrower has under a judicial foreclosure, such as "statutory redemption rights, RCW 61.24.050," the right to a homestead exemption, and the checks and balances of the judicial process and requirement of proving a right to foreclose in court. *Id.* In exchange, the act typically does not allow a lender to pursue a deficiency judgment against the borrower. *Harvey*, 182 Wn. 2d at 336; RCW 61.24.100. Further, the act requires strict compliance with its specific steps "[b]ecause the act dispenses with many protections commonly enjoyed by borrowers under judicial foreclosures." *Albice*, 174 Wn. 2d. at 567. Here, the legislature has opted to add to those requirements a mechanism for mediation.

The Gardners argue that the Trust should not be allowed to evade the consequences of its failure to mediate in good faith by abandoning the nonjudicial foreclosure and initiating a lawsuit. (Petition at 5.) The argument disregards the fact this is exactly what RCW 61.24.163(14) requires, since it clearly precludes use of the efficient, less costly nonjudicial process if there is a finding of lack of good faith during the mediation. Further, the argument is not compelling given the Trust's loan servicers in this case continued to negotiate with the Gardners for over a year after the mediation, but the Gardners never provided an acceptable offer and instead continually lowered the amount they were willing to pay.

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